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   No Undertakings were filed in this proceeding.

Thursday, September 5, 2013

--- On commencing at 12:30 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Good afternoon, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in a matter of three applications, one application by Enbridge Gas Distribution, and that's EB-2012-0451, and two applications by Union Gas Limited, EB-2012-0433 and EB-2013-0074.

May I start with appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Good morning -- or good afternoon, Madam Chair, my apologies.  Fred Cass and Scott Stoll for Enbridge Gas Distribution, and with us at the counsel table is Edith Chin from Enbridge.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Cass.

MR. SMITH:  Good afternoon, members of the Board.  Crawford Smith and my colleague Miriam Sears on behalf of Union Gas, and Mr. Mark Kitchen is with us as well from Union.

MS. HIVON:  Good afternoon.  Marie-Christine Hivon for GMI.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair, Panel members.  Tom Brett for the Building Owners and Managers Association.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

MR. ELSON:  Good afternoon.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Good afternoon, Panel.  David Poch for Green Energy Coalition.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Good afternoon.  I'm Steven Shrybman.  I appear for the Council of Canadians.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and Panel.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. CRANE:  Good afternoon.  Mark Crane on behalf of IGUA.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Crane.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon.  Mark Rubenstein, on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  James Sidlofsky, on behalf of Metrolinx and the Regional Municipality of York.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Good afternoon.  John Beauchamp, on behalf of APPrO.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I'll just ask you to repeat that with the microphone on.  You actually share microphones, so Mr. Sidlofsky, don't turn yours off.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I didn't, Madam Chair.  It was on.  I blame Mr. Beauchamp.  [Laughter]  That's a good start.

MR. BEAUCHAMP:  So John Beauchamp, on behalf of APPrO.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Good afternoon.  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Higgin.

MR. AIKEN:  Good afternoon.  Randy Aiken for the London Property Management Association.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  It's Jim Gruenbauer representing the City of Kitchener.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Good afternoon.  James Whiteman on behalf of Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Wightman.

MR. DeROSE:  Good afternoon.  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME, and I've been asked if I could just put in an appearance for Julie Girvan on behalf of CCC.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. CAMERON:  One more over here, Madam Chairman.  Gordon Cameron.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, sorry, Mr. Cameron.  Yes, I see you now.

MR. CAMERON:  Gordon Cameron, on behalf of TransCanada Pipelines Limited.

MR. MILLER:  Robert Miller on behalf of --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Can you please turn on your microphone?  Thank you.

MR. MILLER:  Robert Miller of 8081 Investments.

MR. GERMAIN:  David Germain on behalf --


MS. CHAPLIN:  You need your --


MR. GERMAIN:  Sorry, is that better?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Now it's on.

MR. GERMAIN:  Okay.  David Germain, on behalf of Markham Gateway.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair -- or afternoon, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined by Khalil Viraney, Josh Wasylyk, and Zora Crnojacki.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

So today's proceeding is a pre-hearing conference before the Panel.  We're sitting to hear submissions related to the hearing plan.

As you all know, the Board has already issued two procedural orders related to the production of a hearing plan and in those orders indicated that the Board has allocated nine days for the oral proceeding.

In addition to discussions during the settlement conference, the parties were also requested to use this morning to develop an agreed hearing plan which conforms to the number of days which the Board has allocated.

We have received the proposed hearing plan, so shall we mark that as an exhibit, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  It will be Exhibit KP1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.1:  PROPOSED HEARING PLAN

MS. CHAPLIN:  And we do note that substantial reductions have been made, although it still runs slightly long.  Do the parties have any particular submissions -- I understand there is an issue about the timing for the joint panel.  Before we address that issue, are there any submissions from the applicants or others as to the overall hearing plan and the times?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I do have comments just in relation to the amount of time that Enbridge has on the schedule in particular and the applicants more in general.  I'm not sure if that's really something that the Board cares to hear about.  It's more just in support of the time estimates that have been provided in particular by Enbridge.  I'm not sure that -- if that's what you're looking for at this point in time.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, perhaps I could just get confirmation.  Are the parties -- the parties are content with this schedule with the exception of the placement of the joint panel and are recommending that we adopt this and are prepared to commit themselves to these estimates?  Is there any -- let's say if anybody has a different submission they can let me know.  Otherwise, I will assume everybody is agreed.

MR. STOLL:  Well, I just ask that, depending on the Panel's decision on the timing of which panels, especially the joint panel, that parties can reallocate and possibly reduce -- will be able to possibly reduce their time, depending on the placement of the panels.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So we'll take that into consideration when we take submissions on the order of panels.

So the Board Panel has reviewed this, so we see that the -- there's about two hours in addition to the time that we've allocated.  However, we are prepared to be flexible to accommodate that, and so let's -- and so what that will probably mean is sitting in an afternoon.

Given the schedule as it's placed here, we would likely sit the afternoon of the first day.  However, we're going to address this issue of when the joint panel sits, so that's subject to that decision.

So unless there are any other matters, then let's take submissions on the question of the timing for the joint panel.

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, just -- sorry, in the corner, Vince DeRose here --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Just before we move on to that, I just wanted to ensure that it was clear to the Board that while you see the CME/CCC box has been put together, we just thought because it's a little unusual -- I think this is the first time that you will have seen this -- CME and CCC have not combined their interests in their entirety, but rather we have agreed that while I'm representing CME I've worked with CCC.  We have identified common interests, and I will be asking the questions on behalf of CCC as well as CME so that they don't have to retain their own legal counsel.  But we just wanted it sort of --


MS. CHAPLIN:  You're still separate interventions.

MR. DeROSE:  -- clear on the record that we are separate interventions and that they have conducted their own IRs.  They are preparing issues for cross-examination, providing it to me, and I will be incorporating it into my cross-examination.  So we hope that that is acceptable to the Board.  We believe that it is creating efficiencies.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, that is acceptable.  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

So Mr. Cass, Mr. Smith?

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I do have some submissions to make on the issue regarding the order of appearance of the joint panel.  In that regard, Mr. Mondrow wrote an e-mail on this.  It's actually more extensive in its reasons than what I would provide, so I believe that parties have it.  I don't know whether the Board Panel would have received it.  I've brought copies with me --


MS. CHAPLIN:  We do not have it.

Thank you.  Does Mr. Mondrow know you are...


MR. CASS:  I mentioned it to Mr. Crane, who is here from Mr. Mondrow's firm, that I had intended to draw on Mr. Mondrow's e-mail, because I think it does say essentially what I would have said, and some other points that I can't actually comment on.  It has some additional points.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's just give this a number.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't believe it was filed with the Board Secretary's office, unless I'm mistaken.  So let's mark it KP1.2.  This is an e-mail from Mr. Mondrow dated September 2nd.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.2:  Email from Mr. Ian Mondrow dated September 2nd

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll be very brief.

The reasons, at least from the point of view of Enbridge, for the proposed order of appearance of the joint panel are essentially summarized by Mr. Mondrow in the third paragraph of this e-mail, not that he would have known the reasons but he more or less hit the nail on the head in writing this e-mail, and indeed it's really the last point in his third paragraph that would have been the primary reason from Enbridge's point of view.

Essentially the point being, as Mr. Mondrow expressed it, that the Union and Enbridge panels would proceed so that parties understand the projects that are proposed and their interdependencies within Ontario.  And then what Mr. Mondrow has referred to as "NEB regulatory issues" would come later, to be understood in the context of what the proposals actually are.

At least from the point of view of Enbridge, that was the primary reason for the proposed order.  Mr. Mondrow refers to other points here as well, the first one in his third paragraph being that, generally speaking, applicants do have -- are allowed some discretion to present their cases as they see fit, and I submit as well that that's a valid point.

In any event, I don't have a lot to add to what Mr. Mondrow has said.  I would point out as well that the proposed panel is not just an applicant's panel; it includes Gaz Métro, which is not an applicant and would not normally have witnesses at the start of a hearing.  It was much more normal to have the applicants proceed and then the other panels come after that.

So for a variety of reasons it was seen as being sensible that this joint panel come after the applicants have presented their panels, to set the context really for what the applications are all about.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So if I could understand this from, I guess to start with, from Enbridge's perspective, I'm just sort of struggling a bit, but maybe if I can try and paraphrase what you're saying, it's your view we will better understand the evidence if we hear the joint panel after, even though it is a panel that's providing context?

MR. CASS:  That's the reason.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Maybe you can help me why that's the case.  Why is hearing the panel that's providing context better heard after than before?

MR. CASS:  But, Madam Chair, the proposed panel is not providing context, in my view, for what's really before the Board.

Before the Board are these proposed projects.  This is what the Enbridge and Union panels would explain to the Board what the projects are about, and questions would be answered in relation to issues with regard to those projects.  The combined panel is addressing what I might call side issues about the relationship between National Energy Board proceedings and these projects, these applications before the Board.

In my -- certainly in the reasoning that lay behind the proposal to do this panel later, it was Enbridge's idea that it made more sense to get the actual context of the projects themselves before the Board as opposed to the context of something that's going on at the NEB at the start of the hearing.

So once the context of the projects is before the Board, then there could well be questions accumulate during that time that people would know that they have a panel coming up that can address these other issues to do with the extent to which there are interrelationships with the NEB.  But to start with the interrelationships with the NEB before the panel is addressing the projects have come up is, again, the reasoning that went into the proposal that's been made to the Board.

I understand that there are other points of view, but I'm just doing my best to express the reasoning that gave rise to the proposal that you're seeing.  I hope I've expressed that clearly.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, I understand.

Mr. Smith, do you have anything to add to that?

MR. SMITH:  No, I echo Mr. Cass's submissions and Mr. Mondrow's.  In the normal course, the applicant would prepare its case and put its case forward, and I do believe that's appropriate here.

If I can respond to your question, Madam Chair, one of the intentions behind the joint panel is to provide information, but of course it can't be the case that matters that are properly before the National Energy Board are litigated in this proceeding, any more than it would be appropriate to litigate issues in Calgary that are properly before this Board.

So I think it's important, because intervenors have inquired as to the applications that are proceeding in front of the National Energy Board, and the nature of relief.

But I do have some concerns, particularly if the panel goes first -- to be blunt about it -- that we get a little bit off-topic, because absolutely it is important to understand that there is a section 71 application being brought by Union and GMI in Calgary, and the nature of the relief.  And I think that that should be juxtaposed, frankly, in time relative to when TransCanada is supposed to testify.  And the Board often does that; it groups experts together, for example, and that's so that it's proximate in time and you can have the benefit of hearing the evidence back to back.

But the purpose of the joint panel isn't all-encompassing market review.  It's, just as a matter of fact, what's happening, not:  Is Union correct or is TransCanada correct?  Because I don't think that that's actually a question that the Board can or should decide.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Are there any other parties that wish to speak in support of the applicants' proposal?

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, perhaps if I -– sorry to jump the queue, but if I can perhaps give you our view?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.

MR. DeROSE:  In the normal course, we agree that it would be -- normally we would expect the applicants to elect the order that they would put forth their witness panels.

This is a bit of an unusual hearing, and one of the focuses, at least for today, has been on how to create efficiencies and how to cut down on cross-examinations.

I can advise you that part of our cross-examination will relate to the various risks that exist with the build and the applications, monetary risks for ratepayers that exist.  And whether we like it or not -- as my friends have already said -- their joint panel will provide context, and we aren't look to go litigate NEB issues, but you need to understand the context of what is currently before the NEB and what is being litigated.

So for instance -- and I'll give you three areas that we would intend to cross-examine what I would describe as the policy panels, panels 1 for both Enbridge and Union.

First of all, we will be exploring what are the consequences that any delay that may occur with the leave-to-construct.  And one of the applications before the NEB relates to tariffs and contractual terms and long-term contracts, and I expect that the evidence that you will hear is if there are delays to a certain point, we may be forced to enter into long-term contracts with TCPL under the new tariff.  If you don't understand that there is an application at the NEB, for my cross-examination I'm going to have to at least provide you with that basic context and put the documents before you.

Mr. Smith has referred to the section 71 application.  Again, one of the issues there is what are the short-haul tolls that TCPL can charge.  Depending on what the tolls are, the benefits that you'll hear in the policy panel, the benefits range between –- I mean, from one, it's sort of between zero and $16 million a year in benefits.  Again, if you don't have the context of what is occurring at the NEB, you won't appreciate why there is this range of benefits that is contingent upon the outcome.

So from an efficiency perspective, I guess, giving a heads-up in order for us to conduct our cross-examination, we are going to have to put before you at least the most basic facts about some of the applications that the joint panel would give evidence on.

If the joint panel were to give you that evidence, we wouldn't be required to take the time to give you that context.  Quite frankly, I think the joint panel would probably do a better job than we would in cross-examination giving you the documents.  It will shorten the cross-examination.

Now, that said, I mean, at the end of the day it's helpful if you have the context at the beginning.  We can provide the context in cross-examination, but, I mean, you just have to realize and know what's coming, that if that panel does not proceed first, we will have to introduce some of the documents through our cross-examination that you will then hear from the joint panel after the fact on.

So that's why in our perspective it's certainly something you should consider, particularly with the focus on time in this proceeding.

Subject to any questions -- there are other areas -- perhaps just the last piece of context is that with respect to Enbridge -- I've given you an example for Union.  With respect to Enbridge, one of the items that we will be questioning upon is the MOU that was entered into with TransCanada.  You would have seen that in the evidence, but subsequent there was a complaint to the NEB, which has certain allegations or facts about it that we want to bring to your attention, and then arising out of that there has now been a lawsuit, which again, to the extent that an Enbridge panel addresses those issues, we don't need to put it all before you and establish those facts.  We could just simply look at the outcome and the ramifications or the risks associated with it, as opposed to the facts themselves.

So subject to any questions, those would be our submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I might just clear up a point that I think may be understood.  I don't think there is any intention that the joint panel would address questions about the litigation that Mr. DeRose just referred to at the end of his submissions.

I mean, there is a an open question about the extent to which Enbridge can comment on litigation before the courts to begin with.  But to the extent that that's addressed, I don't think it's envisaged that the combined panel would do that.  That would be Enbridge's own panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Other submissions?  Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Thanks, Madam Chair.

Our first comment would be that, regardless of when the -- whether the panel goes first or just before the TransCanada panel, the utilities have discussed the idea that they would put forward a package of information which lays out the relevant documents, that describe the various proceedings at the NEB.  There are actually a number of proceedings at the NEB that have either just finished or are ongoing or are about to start.  So there's several of them.  But in any event, that the utilities would put forward a package of information.

My understanding is that they don't intend to put new evidence, in the sense of creating evidence of their own, but that they would look to put -- they would in response to questions from intervenors, and I guess just in the interests of providing the Board information, put together the relevant documents so they're all in one spot.

I think that's very important for the Board, because even if you were to go -- especially if you were to decide to put the panel first, because you would have in one spot the documents that you need to read to really understand the background.

I mean, there's a fair amount of evidence that's been filed, some of those cases, by the LDCs, for example, which would be relevant for you to look at.  There has been some hearing dates set down already by the NEB which would be relevant.  You'd have NEB letter orders and so on and so forth.

So I would urge that whatever -- whichever date you pick, that you ask that that material be filed as soon as possible, and hopefully next week before the hearing begins.  As I say, you're not creating anything new.  You're simply bundling the relevant documents.  I mean, some of us have some of them, but it would be a lot cleaner if they were all here --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. --

MR. BRETT:  All right.  The second point --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Maybe to help us, we could just hear -- is that the -- Union and Enbridge's intention?  And when would we get those materials?  And would that in fact be providing the materials that Mr. DeRose is essentially referring to?

MR. SMITH:  Certainly this was a response by the utilities to interest by intervenors and I think well-justified to understand the nature of the applications.  We're not in a position, given the timing.  Obviously our applications were prepared at a time when relationships were somewhat different and expectations were somewhat different.

So we don't have a section of our evidence where we can point to, but there is in the record and broadly in the public domain a fair amount of material, and in the interest of time and efficiency our thinking was perhaps we could pull together a compendium.

And it would be useful then to perhaps have the panel walk through in an as efficient a way as possible the key relevant documents that would then be in the record.  And that was our intention.

We'll certainly get at it as soon as we can.  You know, I think we can have it done next week, but I just, I haven't started that work, so I don't know.  The material is not new material, so we wouldn't be sitting down to draft something.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, finally, I would sort of -- we're a little torn on this.  I think either way works.  I think I would come down on the side of putting it at the end, because you then have a better idea of the specifics of the projects to which you could apply the criteria, the material from the NEB.  But it's not a strong preference, and I think either way would be acceptable from our point of view.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Do others have -- Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Since it was on the record, it was my initiation of the e-mail that Ian responded to, and I believe, for the reasons that Mr. DeRose put forth, that having the panel upfront would be helpful to the Board, and efficient, in terms of the hearing of the evidence.

I still support that position, but I can understand some of the responses that Ian has provided and the applicants have provided, suggesting having the panel later could also work, but I would layer on to that if the utilities were able to deliver at the outset of the hearing a compendium or compilation of information that's helpful, that would certainly go some way, but I would add to that, as Mr. DeRose has pointed out, there is an element of, what does that mean to the utilities.  And that may be their expectation to have that in when the panel comes up in-chief, but it may also be very helpful to the Panel to know how Union and Enbridge perceive the risks associated with the NEB applications.

So to the extent that there are two pages of evidence that is generated by the utilities to say, And here's how it all comes together and affects the projects at hand, I think that would be also helpful.

So we're in the hands of the Panel, obviously, in terms of the order.  I can support going at the end as the applicants have suggested if we have enough context upfront between public documentation and, ideally, some evidence by the utilities, in terms of the implications of the NEB proceedings.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe I'm a little bit more simplistic about it.  The issue that I have is that in the, what I would call sort of the policy panel, so the A1 issue panels for both Union and Enbridge, they will be asked, as well as other panels, will be asked about the various things happening at the NEB.  They will be asked about implications of a section 71 application, the tariff -- TCPL's application for a tariff amendment.

The problem is only a little bit of that is actually currently on the record, because a lot of the activities have happened since the filing of the update, and for the ease of the Board, if we're asking questions about implications, if the Board is unaware, because it's not on the record, of many of the applications and what they entail and what is being asked for by the utilities at the NEB, then I would imagine it would be difficult for the panel.

But if documents are able to be filed in advance and the panel is able to review them, then I think that's partially a way to solve this, but it was not clear from Mr. Smith's comments and he didn't clarify would the compendium be for the NEB panel at the end, or would it be filed in advance and entered into evidence of some sort.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith, maybe we'll come back to you and see how you would respond to that question.

MR. SMITH:  I don't see any reason why we would hold onto it.  I mean, we'll file it as soon as we -- it's not a secret.  These are public proceedings.  We'll file it as soon as we have it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Maybe getting to the substance of the question, what I'm hearing –- and we haven't given everybody a chance to talk, and I certainly will, but what I'm sort of hearing is the views are not that divergent as long as people feel that there's sufficient material on our record to give them the context they can then have to conduct their cross-examination of Enbridge and Union in its first panel.

So I'm sensing that this is coming together.  I see people nodding their heads.  This is what we hear in conference.  We're trying to be a little bit informal, so -

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, perhaps I could put it this way.  Whether it's Union that files the application material or one of us, someone could put together a compendium.

As Mr. Smith said, they thought they were going to put forth their panel that would walk you through the documents, walk you through the applications and sort of describe to you what they're all about, I'm assuming at the 10,000-foot level.  If that panel doesn't go first, on panel number 1, one of the first things I'm probably going to do is give the section 71 application to the witness panel, and say:  For the benefit of the Board, can you just describe at a high level what you are seeking in this application and what the relief is?

That is what -- that's exactly what, as I understand, the joint panel is supposed to do, but I would have to ask that question because otherwise you won't have the context of the cross-examination and the questions we're going to ask and the implications for what is before you.

So to a certain extent, we're sort of arguing about who is going to ask the question to the panel.  We can ask it to the first panel; that's fine, but I --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. DeRose, what your -- I'm not trying you to get you to get ahead of yourself, but you're wanting to go ask the first Union and Enbridge panels about what the implications are.  So in other words, if the section 71 is resolved this way, what does it mean for these projects, and if it's resolved a different way, what does it mean?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  At a simple level, yes.  If you take one ground as an example, there is a request that the short-haul tolls be determined, and if the short-haul tolls are determined to be what TransCanada included in their open season, that would have one implication for the benefits or lack thereof of elements of the leave-to-construct before you.

If the tolls are established at what Union is proposing, that would have a very different result in terms of the benefits that would flow from the applications before you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And it's your understanding that the joint panel wouldn't be in a position to answer that whole series of questions?

MR. DeROSE:  In terms of the –- no, I don't believe that they would.  As I understand it, they would only be up to provide the context of what's going on at the NEB, and they would not being there to describe elements of need or economic feasibility or benefits that flow.

So to a certain extent, I think we maybe sort of -- if we weren't conscious of time compression, I don't think we would even be having this discussion because I wouldn't really think twice about just putting it before them and taking any extra 10 minutes to have them describe the application for you in the course of a cross-examination.

So that really is sort of the driver here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Actually, I have a question for Mr. Cass and Mr. Smith.  As it's now being described, it sounds like part of the need for this panel and the need for the compendium is because of these developments that have happened since the bulk of your companies' evidence were filed.

So in that sense, since we're not making more formal evidentiary filing provisions, does it make sense to have that panel come, the compendium gets put in, they answer the questions as to what those -- they kind of bring it all up to date with what's going on, and then go into the heart of the application.  What's the drawback of that?

MR. SMITH:  Maybe if I can start?  I'm sympathetic to the position and I understand the desire to have the panel go first.

One thing I do think, though, that's important to bear in mind is there are three applications here, and while the issue that we're talking about that has captured a lot of attention really comes out of part of Enbridge's GTA application but also Union's Brantford-Kirkwall application, but I think to describe the bulk of the companies' evidence as directed to these issues isn't entirely accurate, having regard to the nature of the applications.

I mean, Union does have an application, Parkway West, which is a reliability application which doesn't have anything really to do with this.

And I think Mr. Cass would say the GTA project, although segment A relates to this -- and absolutely you will know from the positions we took that it's important, absolutely fundamentally important to the transmission issue, from our perspective -- the GTA project is largely a distribution project.  I do have some sympathy for wanting that story to unfold, and this not to become all about transmission from that perspective, but, you know, I'm not -- this isn't a hill I'm going to die on.  I mean, it is --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm relieved.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Because, look, the people can be -- we think we can make them available and we'll get the documents, if that's what the Board thinks would be most useful for the unfolding in an orderly way of the applications, because it's not a secret Mr. Isherwood would be our witness on that panel.  Mr. Isherwood is on the first panel.  He is going to be there to answer these questions, so that's fine.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thanks.

Anyone that we haven't heard from that...

MS. HIVON:  With respect to Gaz Métro's position, Gaz Métro is -- a witness is supposed to testify on this joint panel.  As a matter of efficiency, we have also suggested that this would be the only panel on which a Gaz Métro witness would be heard, so any questions on cross-examination to Gaz Métro could be incorporated into cross-examination of this joint panel.

And I think that it was a way to group the information and answering questions on the other pending files before the NEB that were expressed earlier by intervenors.  It was a way to answer these questions, and at the same time explain how other files may be related, and Gaz Métro's evidence would fall squarely within the context of this joint panel.

So it is also for Gaz Métro an opportunity to try to save time and participate in this joint panel, and since it is an intervenor, this is why we were supporting the current scheduling of this joint panel after the applicants' panels on the merit of the -- their application.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes?

MR. POCH:  Just a mechanical comment, if I may.

If the Panel is persuaded that they would like to hear the joint panel first, I can see how that could shift everything downstream a little bit, although I agree with my friend Mr. DeRose that it's likely to shorten up a bit the following policy panels of both the utilities.

In that scenario, I just ask if we could impose upon the Board to lock in the GEC panel at the start of the day on the 27th.  I imagine my friend has the same problem.  We have out-of-town witnesses.

For my part, I have no difficulty if that pushes Enbridge's panel 3 beyond our panel.  I think -- I can't speak for my friend, but I think these are passing ships that are addressing different issues.  We have -- we don't see any problem arising in that juxtaposition.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So you're requesting that we keep the 27th to start first thing with the --


MR. POCH:  We're trying to coordinate.  We've been working with Environmental Defence to have a joint panel, and I already have two witnesses, both from out of town, so it's just going to get very complicated if we try to move it.  It may be possible to move it to the 1st, but I just
-- I hesitate to try it.

My friend can speak for himself if he's got a similar problem.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Madam Chair, I have the same problem on October 1st.  Our panel was pencilled in yesterday for the 1st.  I checked with our witnesses.  One is in the southwestern United States, one is off the coast of British Columbia, the other is at Cornell, in New York.  They are available on October 1st.

I don't -- other than the dates we originally identified, which I think are gone now because of the developments that have happened since they identified the 24th and I think the 19th as possibilities for them, so really October 1st is the date they're all available, and I'm not sure how much flexibility, if any, they have for other dates at this point.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Anything else?

One moment, please.

All right.  We'll take a ten-minute break and come back and give you our resolution for the timing.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 1:17 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  First of all, we would like to thank all the parties for their cooperation and hard work in crafting a hearing plan which accommodates the Board's regulatory calendar and also ensures that we have a productive and efficient proceeding.  So we realize that took some considerable effort and we certainly appreciate it.

The matter that was remaining for us to determine was the timing for the joint panel.  Union and Enbridge have proposed that the joint panel appear after their other witness panels, and some intervenors have proposed that the joint panel appear as a first panel in order to provide context.

The Board has decided that we will accept the applicants' proposal for the joint panel to appear at the end, so to speak.  In our view, it's the applicants' case to make, and therefore we would want quite compelling reasons to require a different order from what they have proposed.  And on balance, we conclude that in fact there are also benefits for having the joint panel appear later; namely, we want to retain our focus on the specific applications that are before us, and the NEB applications are not our primary focus, although they provide, of course, important context.

Second of all, appearing at the end, that will facilitate the joint appearance of the GMI panel as well, which most logically would appear after the applicants' panels.

And thirdly, although there may be some reduced efficiency because of the necessity of taking the witnesses through some additional material by doing it in this order, we think that that's certainly manageable within the hearing plan that's been negotiated, and it appears that that will be further mitigated by the production of this compendium.  So we will have all of the relevant information about the NEB proceedings.

So we will expect that compendium to be filed before the hearing starts so that it can be of great assistance to all of us.

And further, now looking at the calendar for September 12th, it appears that if we -- we've determined that if we sit in the afternoon on September 12th, it appears we will be able to conclude Union Gas's panels 1 and 2, so we will plan to do that.  So we will sit on the afternoon of the 12th, but we will be very reluctant to sit on other afternoons; although we will potentially keep that option open if it appears that we could complete a panel expeditiously.

Are there any questions?

MR. STOLL: If I may, just one issue.

We'd had a discussion with Beaver Valley 8081, and their issue was around one parcel out of two parcels, which they were going to ask questions on.  And during the discussions, we've been able to confirm that we're not going to be impacting the second parcel where they had a concern.

So our suggestion is we would just cover that off in a letter to the Board and they could confirm, and that would alleviate the need for them to cross-examine our panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And that saves us 10 minutes.  An excellent start.

Is there anything else?  No?  Well, thank you very much, and we will see you on the 12th.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:36 p.m.
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